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ST. JOHN'S CHURCH
St Johnôs church at the top of 
Ladbroke Grove was deliberately 
sited to form the centrepiece of 
the Ladbroke estate. It was built in 
1845, just when the second great 
wave of building on the estate 
was beginning. The developers 
no doubt hoped that the proxim-
ity of this handsome Victorian 
gothic building would enhance 
property values in the area.

The first wave of building had 
taken place in the 1820s, along 
Holland Park Avenue and neigh-
bouring streets. A financial down-
turn brought it to an end in around 
1830, and the undeveloped area to 
the north was let to an entrepreneur 
who used it to build a race-course, 
the Hippodrome. Where St Johnôs 
now stands was the highest point 
and served as a natural grandstand 
for the race-goers. But the race-
course was not a success, not least 

because of the heavy clay soil, and 
by the end of the 1830s the operator 
of the race-course relinquished his 
lease on the land round St Johnôs, 
just as the demand for new housing 
was picking up. The Ladbroke fam-
ily then gave leases of the land to 
a variety of developers, and build-
ing began again in the early 1840s. 

The building of the church followed 
a petition by the Vicar of St Mary 
Abbots to build another church in 
his parish as the existing churches 
were óinadequate to accommodate 
the inhabitantsô. There seems to 
have been quite a lot of competi-
tion among the developers to have 
the church built on their land, with 
competing sites being proposed on 
either side of Ladbroke Grove. In 
the end, a piece of ground on the 
western side (known as ñHilly 
Fieldò) was donated byRobert Roy, 
the developer of the area west of 
Ladbroke Grove. The total cost was 

just over Ã10,000. About half of this 
was raised by private subscription, 
a favourite way of raising funds for 
buildings of public benefit in the 
Victorian era. The rest came from 
the developers, including loans 
of Ã2,000 from Charles Blake, 
another of the speculators active 
in the area; and from the Victorian 
statesmanViscount Canning (the 
latter made a number of loans 
to the builders of the Ladbroke 
estate as a form of investment). 

The builders chose a 13th century 
Early English style for their church 
ï rather curiously, as the prevail-
ing style of the Ladbroke estate is 
classical and the Victorian Gothic 
revival movement was only just 
beginning. Pevsner describes the 
church somewhat severely as 
ñarchitecturally undistinguished 
but archaeologically correctò. The 
east end of the church was designed 
to close the vista at the end of Ken-
sington Park Gardens, on which 
construction had just begun. It was 
built to accommodate a congrega-
tion of 1,500 (in the aisles and in 
galleries above them), of whom 
1,100 were to be for worshippers 

The church of St John the Evangelist on Ladbroke Grove.
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paying pew rent and 400 were to 
be ñfree sittingò. Its vicarage was 
erected next to the church at what is 
now 63 Ladbroke Grove, also built 
in a somewhat Gothic style. The 
church was listed Grade II in 1969.

were made to the church to ac-
commodate changing needs. For 
instance, in 1883, it was agreed óby 
a large majority of the congregation 
that a more zealous and religious 
feeling would be imparted to the 
servicesô if the men and boys of the 
choir wore surplices. However, the 
vestry did not have enough space 
for the clergy and choir to robe 
together before services, so some 
seats in one of the galleries were 
removed and a new clergy vestry 
created. In 1929, more galleries 
were removed, reducing the seating 
to 838, which was deemed by then 
amply sufficient for the needs of the 
church. In 1942, the top of the stee-
ple was removed by Government 
order, as it was considered a hazard 
to low-flying aircraft. The topless 
steeple became a well-known post-
war land-mark until it was rebuilt 
in 1957. 
One of the biggest changes has 
occurred in more recent years, 
with the structurally ambitious 
building of a large undercroft un-
der the church to provide a parish 
office and activities centre. It now 
also houses a nursery, the Monkey 
Puzzle, which has its own entrance. 
The church is currently undertak-
ing a big renovation of its interior, 
including the restoration of many 
original features. It has raised 
Ã1million in less than three years, 
but is still short of its Ã1.25million 
target. Details of the fundraising 
appeal for the project are at: 
www.restoringthefuture.org.uk.   

The activities that take place in the 
church are wide-ranging. Apart 
from daily services, there are regular 
classical concerts, as well as talks, 
films, exhibitions and workshops. 
Like many London churches, St 
John allows other denominations 
to celebrate services there. For 10 
years it hosted services for the Eri-
trean community, but the Eritreans 
have moved elsewhere as they are 
now too numerous to be accommo-
dated. St Johnôs is also home to a 
Filipino Chaplaincy, the Filipinos 
having overtaken Arabic speakers 
as the largest non-English-speaking 
community in the Borough. Serv-
ices in Tagalog are celebrated by 
a Filipino priest belonging of the 
Philippine Independent Church, 
part of the Old Catholic Federation 

(in communion with the Church of 
England), but the services are ecu-
menical with all Christian denomi-
nations welcome. Filipinos appar-
ently come from all over London 
to attend. Services will shortly be 
provided for Korean Christians.
Inside the church, around the organ, 
an excellent exhibition of the his-
tory of Notting Hill has recently 
been installed, which is well worth 
inspecting. The church is open from 
10 until 1 oôclock every day.  

63 Ladbroke Grove, ex-Vicarage. 

Some of the original Victorian 
stained glass windows survive, in-
cluding one designed by William 
Warrington (1796-1869), one of the 
foremost producers of stained glass 
for the Gothic revival movement.  
An elaborate carved reredos was 
added behind the altar in 1890, de-
signed by Sir Aston Webb the well-
known late Victorian architect who 
also designed the main building of 
the Victoria and Albert Museum, 
part of Buckingham Palace and 
Admiralty Arch. So distinguished 
people were involved in providing 
the fittings.
There were originally plans to in-
stall a specially designed organ. But 
financial problems led to a decision 
to purchase a second hand 18th 
century organ, from Holy Trinity 
Church, Clapham Common. Vari-
ous alterations were made to bring 
it in line with Victorian taste, 
including the replacement of the 
original classical case by a Gothic 
one (now lost).  It still operates 
today and has just been given a 
major renovation. It is rare to find 
an instrument with both Georgian 
and Victorian features, and the 
organ has been given a Grade II* 
listing under the Historic Organ 
Certificate Scheme. 
To begin with, St Johnôs was  large-
ly surrounded by open country. The 
only houses nearby were what are 
now 2-4  Lansdowne Crescent and 
the terrace at Nos. 37-57 Ladbroke 
Grove. The church was known lo-
cally as the Hippodrome Church or 
"St Johnôs in the hayfields". Within 
very few years, however, it was sur-
rounded by newly built houses.
Over the years a number of changes 

BASEMENT 
DEVELOPMENT

A lot has been happening, most of it 
depressing. A house in Lansdowne 
Road has suffered serious damage  
following the building of a base-
ment next door. And applications 
for basements have continued 
apace, including an increasing 
number for double basements. 

84-86 Lansdowne Road
As regards recent applications, the 
owners of neighbouring houses at 
84 and 86 Lansdowne Road have 
for basements under both houses, 
which they plan to undertake as a 
single building operation. We are 
worried about the impact that this 
will have on neighbours and will 
be pressing for a coordinated traffic 
management plan to be developed 
in consultation with the neighbours. 
The houses give onto a communal 
garden, and we are also worried by 
the impact on the character of the 
garden of the rooflights proposed 
behind the houses.

44 Ladbroke Square
The Council has granted a ñcer-
tificate of lawful developmentò 
for a huge basement under the 
ñfootprint of the houseò at No. 44 
Ladbroke Square. This confirms 
that the Council would treat it as 
permitted development and would 
not be able to impose any of the 
normal requirements for mitigating 
construction problems. We believe 
that they should have refused this 
application on the grounds that the 
project is an engineering applica-
tion, which under government rules 
cannot be permitted development. 
There are conflicting legal opinions 
on this issue. It should at least have 
been treated as a test case and al-




